ANNE ARUNDEL COUNTY

The early history of several Maryland counties is still obscure. They are invariably among the first counties, and they are also alike in that they all suffered the loss of records. Anne Arundel County is a prototype. It was established in 1650 and immediately became a battlefield between the Puritan settlers and the Proprietary’s men from St. Mary’s, a state of affairs which was not conducive to the holding of courts and the making of records. A half century later, all such records as had been created were destroyed by fire. Some effort has already been made to locate the various county seats from scattered evidence, but a closer examination of the same material has dispelled some—but not all—of the mystery hereto​fore accepted as impenetrable, and new material not heretofore accessible has helped as well.

The legal origin of the county is found in Chapter 7 of the Acts of the General Assembly of 1650, April term, as follows:

An Act for the erecting of Providence into a County by the name of Ann Arundell County.

Be it Enacted by the Lord Proprr by and with the assent & approba~on of the Upper and Lower House of this Assembly That that part of the Province of Maryland on the west side of the Bay of Chessopeack over against the Isle of Kent formerly called by the name of Providence by the Inhabitants there resideing and inhabiting this yeare shall from henceforth bee erected into a Shire or County by the name of Anna​rundell County, And by that name hereafter to bee ever called.1
County government was initiated by an order of Governor Stone of July 30, 1650, appoint​ing the following Commissioners: James Homewood, Thomas Meares, Thomas Marsh, George Puddington, Matthew Hawkins, James Merryman and Henry Catlyn. Among other things, they were ordered to “appoint Courts to be kept within and for the Sd County. ~ 2

Court at Annapolis

No doubt a court was “appointed” and the names of its members recorded in the first volume of the Judgment Record which was lost in the fire of 1704. That the place chosen was Annapolis we learn, however, from a deposition of 1658, found in the archives of the Provincial Court. The clerk records that the deponent “Saith That beinge At a Court at Sciverne some time aboute ffower or five yeares since. . .“ ~ In December of the previous year the same court clerk entered the notation “Whereas by former Judgment at Severne. . . .“ ~

Some sort of crisis occurred in the year 1658 for on July 12 of that year the Council

toke into debate the settlement of the Court for the County of Ann arundell & the defects in the former Commission. And Ordered That William Burges Thomas Meares Robert Burle Thomas Todde Roger Crosse Thomas Howell Richard Wells, Richard Ewen John Brewer Anthony Salway & Richard Woolman Gent should be comrs for the said County & that they should by the Sherriffe be summoned to appeare on the 22th Instant at the house of Mr Edward Lloyd to take the oath of Commissioners & Justices of the Peace; and that the 28th Instant should be the first court day.5
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Whether there had been an interruption of the court proceedings before this action of the Council is not known. We can be sure, however, that the court met only ten days later and that the place of meeting was Annapolis, for on July 23, the Council, which was then meeting in “Ann Arundel,” notes the following example of the exercise of one of the Governor’s prerogatives, namely, to sit as a judge in the county courts:

This morneing was sworne Of his Lordship Councell Mr Edward Lloyd and from

the Councell went to assist the Governor at the County Court.0
From evidence of the same kind we learn that the court was still meeting in Annapolis or “Severne” in November 1661.~

First Courthouse at The Ridge

Annapolis seems to have continued as the seat of justice until well into the next decade, when The Ridge for a brief moment became second only to St. Mary’s City as a center of governmental activity of all kind. In 1679/80, for example, this little hamlet which lay a few miles south of South River, near the present post office of Butlers, was host to meetings of the General Assembly and to the Council. There is also substantial evidence in the records of the Provincial Court that the county court met there. One example will suffice:

Att a County Court of the Right Honohl Charles Calvert held att the Ridge in

Anne Arundell County on the Ninth day of March in the ffourth year of his Lord-

ships Dominion and Annoq. Domini 1679/80. ..

The county court meetings at The Ridge were held until late in 1683 at the inn kept by John Larkin, while the Council met for at least part of the time in the house of Colonel Thomas Taillor. In the meanwhile, the building of a permanent courthouse, the first in the county, was undertaken. On September 17, 1681, a “Petition of Ann Arundell County” was before the General Assembly which set forth: “that they had Expended a great Deale of Tobacco for Building a Court house which had not been performed by the Undertakers     “

Some solution to the problem was apparently reached, for the courthouse seems to have been completed and put in use. It looks very much like this courthouse was still in use on October 2, 1683, for on that day the clerk of the Upper House notes that, “The Members of the Lower house were called to the Upper house being the Room over the Court Room where his lordship the Lord Proprietary Declares to them. ~“ 20 It seems entirely unlikely that a small country inn would have two meeting rooms. In any case, if this was the courthouse, it had only about a day of life left, for on October 4, 1683:

John Larkin and Richard Broughton sent for by the Doorkeeper to appear before this house about the Court house here in Ann Arundell County which fell Down They Appeared and Ordered that the Clerk of the said County Capt Hauslop bring before this house the Agreement (or the Record of it) made about Building the same . .

It has not been possible to follow the peregrinations of the court for a few years following 1683, but since the Governor and Council continued to meet at The Ridge and at Mr. Larkin’s or Colonel Taillor’s through 1685, it is a fair assumption that the Anne Arundel County Court met at the same place and at the same hostelries.

Courthouse at Londontown

We are on sure ground again when we arrive at the year 1689. During that year and for a few years thereafter the court met at Londontown which was then enjoying a minor real
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estate and shipping boom. It is a ghost town now, the only remaining building being the County Almshouse, located on the south shore of South River close by the present South River Bridge.1e The year 1689 is fixed by a minute of the Council as follows:

The Deposition of John Hammond of Anne Arundle County Gentleman Sworn, saith that at August Court in the yeare 1689 at London Towne.

We know that some sort of building was set aside for the court during its stay in London-town for in a conveyance of land of 1699 between John Larkin, grantor, and John Baldwin, grantee, we find the following:

...
all those two Lotts of ground to him belonging in London Towne in the said County Together with all houses outhouses ... excepted . . . the Twenty five foot house where​in the Court was formerly held as also as much ground besides between the said house and the water as shall be sufficient to erect and build a Twenty foot house upon.14
We know nothing further about this building.

Return to Annapolis: Courthouse in the First State House

The General Assembly moved to fix the county seat at Annapolis, May 8, 1695, when a law to accomplish that purpose was passed. Since this Act of Assembly set up a unique arrangement between county and State, it merits being cited in full:

An Act for setling Anne Arundell County Court att the Porte of Annapolis within the same County.

Forasmuch as there is not any good Court house built and fitted for the County of Ann Arundell, And That the Provinciall Court is now by Law Established to be held and kept forever hereafter att the Porte of Annapolis on the River of Seavern within the same County where there is and must of necessity be a Court house for the publick Service of this Province built which may be Sufficient for holding the County Courts in also and thereby the County saved the Charge of building a County Court house and the said Porte of Annapolis propagated and encreased Be it therefore Enacted by the King and Queen’s most Excellent Maties by and with the Advice and Consent of this present Gen1 1 Assembly and the Authority of the same That the Justices of the County Court of Ann Arundell County do att theire next meeting in their County Court adjourn themselves from the place the same Court shall be held to the Porte of Annapolis upon Seavern River in Ann Arundell and there att the said Porte in the Court house of the Province hold and keep the said County Court and so all County Courts for the ~d County shall forever hereafter be held and kept att the said Porte of Annapolis att Seavern River aforesaid in Ann Arundell County afore​said & att no other place whatsoever in the said County and that the Records of the said County be removed to the s’ Porte there to be kept, and aleo that tha Chs,t’rh fri he built and Erected for the Parish in which the said Porte of Annapolis is shall be built and erected within the said Porte in such place and part thereof as to his Excellency the present Govern shall be thought fitt and Convenient, which shall forever here​after be Denominated Called and Known by the name of the Porte of Annapolis and by no other name or Distinction whatever.’5
The last possible date of transfer from Londontown to Annapolis is fixed by an item in the Proceedings of the Assembly for October 12 of the same year:

George Slacum his accompt examined for bringing the Cage Whipping post pillory and Stone from London Towne to Annapolis referred to the County for his pay, being the proper goods of the County.’

The last proved meeting of the court at Londontown was March 31, 1694/95, because a transcript of part of that session, including the date and place of meeting, appears in the Vestry Minutes of St. James’ Parish for that year.17
A history of Londontown has been prepared by Henry J.
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Before the State House or, as it was sometimes called, the Court House, in Annapolis was completed, the General Assembly and the other agencies of the Colonial government met in private homes or inns and the County Court probably did the same, although there are no records extant to prove this.

When the State House was nearing completion, the General Assembly passed an act allotting space for the various offices of province, county and town. The title to the act and the part relevant to Anne Arundel County follow:

An Act Directing and appointing to what use the severall Rooms in the State house in the Town and Porte of Annapolis shall be applyed to.

Whereas this Province hath been att a great Charge and Expences in the building of a State house or a Publick house of Judicature att this Porte of Annapolis which is now allmost finished and Compleated and to the end that the said house and the Severall rooms and apartments therein may in time present and to Come be applyed and appropriated to the uses and purposes the same was Designed for and no other

Be it Enacted by the Kings most Excellent Ma’~ by and with the Advice and Consent of this present Generall Assembly and the Authority of the Same That the said State house and the Severall Rooms and appartments therein for the time present and to Come be and is hereby Appointed and Appropriated to the uses and purposes hereafter mentioned and no other that is to say the great Room below staires for Courts and Assemblys to sitt in . . . the two Rooms on the Right hand in the upper Loft one for the County Clark to keep the County Records in    

It is also known that the Anne Arundel County Court held its meetings in the State House, at least as early as March of 1697/98.10 However, there is no evidence as to the room which was allotted for its use. The Clerk of the County, as we have seen, was given one of the loft rooms and, of course, the court might have met here, but since this room was no doubt extremely small, that is not likely. It is more probable that it met in “the great Room below staires for Courts and Assemblys to sitt in. . . .“ It might easily have been arranged for the Anne Arundel County Court to meet when the Provincial Court or the Assembly was not in session. In any case, there is no record that the court met anywhere else and there is at least one bit of evidence which may be interpreted to mean that the meeting place of the Anne Arundel County Court and the General Assembly was the same. I quote from the Minutes of the County Court for September 12, 1704:

Whereupon the Court considering the great inconvenience that will attend their sitting to proceed upon any business because of the assemblies now sitting which is likely to continue a considerable time adjourned til the second Tuesday of November next.20
Courthouse in the Second State House

On the night of October 18, 1704, this first combination State House and Courthouse burned. The building, with the exception of the walls, was a total loss. Some of the records of the State government were lost ~‘ as were all of the county records with the exception of the current volumes of the court and land records which perhaps were out of the office during the night of the fire. After an examination of the ruins, the General Assembly decided that it would be feasible to rebuild the State House on the foundations of the one which had burned. We do not know when this work was completed but we believe that by the end of 1706 the building had been reoccupied.ee

Since the General Assembly did not make a reallotment of space, and since the building was constructed on the old foundations, it may be assumed that it was of the same size as the
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first and that space was allotted as formerly. That would mean that the Anne Arundel County Clerk of the Court had another loft room and that the Court probably met in the large court​room downstairs. Since there is no contemporary description of the building we must be satisfied with the nineteenth-century description of Ridgely:

It is described as having been a neat brick building. It was in form an oblong square, entered by a hall—opposite to the door of which was the judges’ seat, and on each side there were rooms for the jurys to retire. Over the judges’ seat was a full length likeness of Queen Anne, presenting a printed charter of the city of Annapolis. In this house the general assembly held its sessions. A Handsome cupola surmounted the building, surrounded by balustrades, and furnished with seats for those who desired to enjoy the beautiful scenery around.2’

This reconstructed State House was badly spoken of by travellers to Annapolis. It apparently was much too small for its purpose and soon was quite neglected. Among those who commented on its sad appearance was Thomas Jefferson, who saw the building in May 1766. His description follows:

I will now give you some account of what I have seen in this metropolis. The assembly happens to be sitting at this time. Their upper and lower house, as they call them, sit in different houses. I went into the lower, sitting in an old courthouse, which, judging from it’s form and appearance, was built in the year one.24
Another witness was William Eddis, who was in Annapolis in 1769:

The court-house, situated on an eminence at the back of the town, commands a variety of views highly interesting; the entrance to the Severn, the majestic Chesa​peake, and the eastern shore of Maryland, being all united in one resplendant assem​blage. Vessels of various sizes and figures are continually floating before the eye; which, while they add to the beauty of the scene, excite ideas of the most pleasing nature.

In the court-house, the representatives of the people assemble, for the dispatch of provincial business. The courts of justice are also held here; and here, likewise, the public offices are established. This building has nothing in its appearance expressive of the great purpose to which it is appropriated; and by a strange neglect is suffered to fall continually into decay; being, both without and within, an emblem of public poverty, and at the same time a severe reflection on the government of this country, which, it seems, is considerably richer than the generality of the American provinces.25
Courthouse in The Council Chamber

The seat of county government remained in this combination State House and Courthouse until 1769 when the building was torn down to make way for a new one, but the new building, the present State House, was never occupied or used by the officials of Anne Arundel County. Instead, the General Assembly assigned to the use of the county a small building adjacent to the State House:

And be it further Enacted That after the said Stadt House shall be built and ftni~hed as aforesaid the House in which the Upper Houoc of Assembly usually sits and the Room thereto Adjoining commonly called the Conference Chamber shall be and are hereby vested in the Justices for the Time being of Ann Arundel County to and for the use of the same County and the City of Annapolis in which House the County Court of that County shall from Time to Time be Held and the same House shall to every Intent and purpose thenceforth be deemed the County Court House of the said County and the Records of the same Court shall be hereafter kept in the said Room called the Conference Chamber and at all Times when the said County Court shall not be sitting the Mayors Court and the Meetings of the Corporation of the City of Annapolis may be held in the said House.23
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Courthouse in County Building

For fifty years the County continued to use this building. Then, in 1820, the General Assembly felt that the time had come for the two governments to be finally separated and it resolved: “That it is inexpedient and improper, to suffer the register of wills or the clerk of Anne Arundel county court, to occupy rooms in the public buildings as offices, and that the governor and council be requested to direct the said officers to remove their books and papers before the first day of August next.” 2~

At the next session of the General Assembly an act was passed authorizing the construc​tion of a county-owned courthouse.~~ The building was completed in 1824, and it still stands but it has undergone many changes. It was remodeled in 1892, and some parts of it were made fire-resistant in 1925.29 An addition was authorized by Chapter 190 of the Acts of 1949 which, when completed in 1952, altogether dwarfed the original building. The disparity in size of the two buildings now joined together is indicated in part by the fact that the old building cost $12,000; the annex, $910,000.~~ Earle S. Harder and Leonard Dressel, Jr., of Glen Burnie Maryland, were architects for the annex; the general contractors were The Mullan Contracting Company of Baltimore.

“Proceedi,s~,e, House of Delegates, December Session 1819, p. 123.

“ Ch. 67, Acts of 1820.
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County,” Md. Host. Mag., Xxii, 62-67.

S~ These figures are taken from an article of Dorothy S. Kirk​ley which appeared in the Martiland Gazette. April 9. 1953.
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INTRODUCTION

I.
County Government

Circuit Court

County government developed very early in Maryland. In fact, the Charter of the colony was based on the organization of the county palatine in England. As early as January 29, 1637/38, James Baldridge was commissioned “Sheriff and Coroner of the county of St. Manes” and assigned the same powers vested in “the office of a sheriff and coroner of any County in England”. St. Mary’s County was divided into hundreds and for a year or two the Isle of Kent, representing all of the settled area of the Eastern Shore, was designated as one of the hundreds of St. Mary’s.

But by 1642, and perhaps earlier, the Isle of Kent had been established as a county in its own right with a commander, who was also designated chief judge, three commissioners or court justices, a sheriff and, in all likelihood, a clerk of court. Other counties were created from time to time and by 1658 the form of county government was well established in Mary​land. It changed very little for the remainder of the colonial period.

The justices, or commissioners as they were more commonly called, of the county court were commissioned jointly by the Governor and held office at his pleasure. The number of commissioners varied from eight to twenty-eight depending on the size and population of the county. Beginning in 1733, the members of the Governor’s Council were named at the head of every commission for a county court, although they rarely exercised this prerogative. Certain of the commissioners were designated as justices of the quorum and no court could be held unless at least one of them was present.

There are only infrequent and indirect references to the county courts in the Constitution of 1776, but such as are found make it obvious that the framers of the new government con​templated no changes in the structure and functions of these courts. In 1790, however, the State was divided into five judicial districts, as follows:

First—St. Mary’s, Calvert, Prince George’s and Charles Counties

Second—Cecil, Kent, Queen Anne’s and Talbot Counties

Third—Anne Arundel, Baltimore and Harford Counties

Fourth—Caroline, Dorchester, Somerset and Worcester Counties

Fifth—Washington, Frederick, Allegany and Montgomery Counties

A chief justice and two associate justices were appointed for each district and the court terms in the district were staggered so that the full bench could be present in each county when court was held. The judicial districts, now called circuits, have been frequently reorganized ~tn(l the number of judges increased, but the system still prevails.

Clerk of Court

‘[‘he clerk of court was responsible for recording the proceedings and actions of the court, hr recording deeds, conveyances and other papers delivered to him for such purpose and for

1
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preserving the records of the court. Since 1777, he has been authorized to issue marriage and other licenses required by law.

Sheriff

The sheriff has been described as “the county court’s chief executive officer.” He served summonses, writs and other process issued by the court. He impaneled juries, apprehended persons accused of crimes and kept them in custody if they were sentenced to the county prison, which was in his charge. He collected and paid out the county levy and public levy. He had certain duties with respect to elections. He also supervised the work of the constables in preparing lists of taxables within their respective hundreds and in their capacity as law enforcement officers.

Law Jurisdiction

At first, the jurisdiction of the county court was limited to civil cases not exceeding 3,000 pounds of tobacco in value and to criminal cases not jeopardizing life or member. Even in such cases it shared concurrent jurisdiction with the Provincial Court. However, after 1710 cases in which the debt or damage amounted to less than 5,000 pounds of tobacco or £20 sterling were barred from the Provincial Court. This limitation was increased to 30,000 pounds of tobacco or £100 sterling. At the same time the county court was given concurrent jurisdiction with the Provincial Court in criminal cases. In 1785, the county court acquired full jurisdic​tion in all civil cases, and finally, upon the abolition of the General Court in 1805, became the highest court of original jurisdiction in the State.

Equity Jurisdiction

Throughout the colonial period, and for sometime afterwards, the Chancery Court was the major equity court of Marylend while the county court handled the lesser cases. For example, in 1715, the county court was assigned exclusive jurisdiction in equity cases in which the value in dispute did not exceed 1,200 pounds of tobacco or £5 sterling. In 1763, it was given con​current jurisdiction with the Chancery Count in equity cases involving no more than 5000 pounds of tobacco or £20 sterling. The powers of the county court were furth€~r F’nlarged in 1791 when it was granted original equity jurisdiction in all cases where the value in dispute did not exceed 10,000 pounds of tobacco or £100 sterling. In 1814, all limitations were re​moved and the county court was given equal jurisdiction with that of the Chancery Court. Finally, the Chancery Court was abolished in 1851 and the county court assumed exclusive original jurisdiction in equity cases.

Baltimore City Courts

Under the Constitution of 1851, Baltimore City was separated from Baltimore County and established as a unit of government comparable in many respects to a county. The judicial functions performed by the circuit court of a county were distributed among the three courts established for the City. The court system of Baltimore has since been expanded and there are now six trial courts, each of which has certain responsibilities, as follows:

1.
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

This court was created by the Constitution of 1851. It was assigned civil jurisdiction in all suits where the debt or damage claim was over one hundred dollars and did not exceed five hundred dollars. The minimum of one hundred dollars still applies, but since 1867, the court has had concurrent civil jurisdiction with the Superior Court and Baltimore City Court.
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ANNE ARUNDEL COUNTY

Records

Of all the records of Anne Arundel County preceding the State House fire of October 1704, only the current volume of the court proceedings, Liber G; the current volume of the land records, Liber W. T. No. 2; and the preceding volume, Liber W. T. No. 1, survived the flames. These three volumes may owe their rescue to the fact that they were kept in the courtroom on the ground floor rather than in the loft room in which the clerk normally kept his records. Another possibility is that the clerk had taken them to his home that evening to make current entries. In any case, no scrap of record for the first fifty years of the county has survived, except for one and a half pages of a court session of March 31, 1694/95, copied into the records of St. James’ Parish.l

The land records listed below through 1778 remained in the custody of the Clerk of the Court until transferred to the Hall of Records January 29, 1937. Later records have followed from time to time, the last, those covering the period from 1789 to 1855, having come in February 1955.

The history of the early court records is more complex. For many years the early volumes were stored in the basement of the courthouse. Then the Daughters of the American Revolu​tion and other interested parties were able to persuade the General Assembly to remove these records to the custody of the Land Office.2 They were rebound by the Land Office, but in the process two volumes, November Term 1720 to August Term 1722, were overlooked. When the Land Office moved to the new Hall of Records building, these two volumes remained in the basement of the old Court of Appeals Building where the Land Office had been housed since 1906. They were found there and transferred to the custody of the Hall of Records Com​mission in August 1937 to be restored to their proper place in the series which, in the mean​while (November 1935) had been transferred from the Land Office. The Minutes of the March Court of 1767 were subsequently found in the basement of the Anne Arundel County court​house by workers of the I{istorical Records Survey of the WPA and from there, brought to the Hall of Records on April 18, 1940. Finally, some of the original minutes of the court which had found their way into the John Work Garrett Library of Baltimore, now a part of The Johns Hopkins University, were microfilmed for the Hall of Records in 1941.~ The later court record series, in which there are many serious gaps, were transferred in 1955.~

Note

In the first volume of this study (p. 13) there appears the following: “Before the State House . . . in Annapolis was completed, the General Assembly and the other agencies of the Colonial government met in private homes or inns and the County Court probably did the same, although there are no records extant to prove this.” Subsequently Miss Constance

1 V~stry Mirn~te~, 1695-1700, p. 1, Ms. Hall of Records.
Hist. Ma9, v0i. 22, pp. 62-67): this list was used as a basis for

 2 Ch. 440, Acts of 1912.

the more comrrehensive list which appeared in Inventory of the


County and Town Archives of Maryland No. 2, Anne Arustdel
   Courtesy of Elizabeth
Baer, Librarian, Eveigreen House
County, Md. Historical Records Survey, 1941, Baltimore. This
Foundation.

volume also contains a list of Early Annapolis records at the

A list of the Colonial Records of Anne Arundel County then
Hall of Records compiled by Morris L. Radoff (Md. Hj~t. Map., known was published in 1927 by the late Louis Dow Scisco (Ma. Vol. 35 [1940], l’I’. 74-78).
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Werner then of Historic Annapolis, Inc. discovered that on October 3, 1697 Richard Hill acknowledged that the County had released to him his house in Annapolis called the old Court house. (Provincial Court Deeds, W.R.C. No. 1, f. 815, Ms. Land Office). This house appears to have been one of Richard Hill’s standing on Lot no. 79 “wherein the records and provincial Court are now kept.” The lease of this house is dated March 5, 1695 (lb id. f. 740). According to the report of a legislative committee of March 23, 1697/8, “The records of Anne Arundel County Court are Lodged in the Stadt house att Annapolis and the County Courts are kept in that house” (Md. Archives, XXII, p. 102-103).

This discovery makes it possible to establish the following chronology for the period between the abandonment of the county seat at Londontown and the taking up of quarters in the State House. The lease between Richard Hill and the State would indicate that the Court moved into his house around March 5, 1695 and that it remained there until around October 3, 1697. Surely the court must have moved into the State House at this time, and if this is true we have a more precise date for its completion than any we have had heretofore (see Morris L. Radoff, Buildings of the State of Maryland at Annapolis, Annapolis, 1954, pp. 7-9).

Only one significant lacuna still remains in the history of Anne Arundel Courthouses:

where was court held in Annapolis between the founding of the County in 1650 and the move to the Ridge circa 1679?

Anne Arundel County Circuit Court

LAND RECORDS, 1653--. Beginning in 1922, mortgages are recorded in separate volumes, but numbered as part of Land Records series. Original volumes predating 1699 were destroyed in the State House fire of 1704. A special commission was established to re​record conveyances brought before it for such purpose. The five volumes thus created represent only a partial restoration of the original records. Liber N. H. No. 1, 1778-1784, has special section in rear devoted to Land Commissions, 1716-18. Most volumes are indexed. C.H. 1855--. L.O. 1949--, microfilm. H.R. 1653-1855; 1653-1949, microfilm.

INDEX TO LAND RECORDS, 1653-1935. Liber index. C.H. 1653-1839, 1896-1935. L.O. 1653-1839, microfilm. H.R. 1653-1895; 1653-1851, microfilm.

INDEX TO LAND RECORDS, 1839--. Cottco Universal. C.H. 1839--. L.O. 1839-1939, micro​film. H.R. 1839-1939, microfilm.

LAND COMMISSIONS, 1724-94. 1716-18 in Land Records. Each volume indexed by name of petitioner. H.R.

[COMMISSIONS TO DIVIDE ESTATES] (LAND COMMISSIONS, GUARDIANS FOR INFANTS), 1791-1805, 1811-29. H.R. has card index, 1791-1805. H.R.

DOCKET OF TAX SALES, 1889--. Each volume indexed by name of delinquent taxpayer. C.H.

TAX SALES RECORD, 1871-76, 1889--. Record of proceedings in sales of property of delinquent taxpayers. Some volumes indexed by name of taxpayer. C.H.

RECORD BOOK SHERIFF’S LAND SALES, 1867--. Full record of proceedings in the sale of land and other property under lien by the sheriff. Each volume indexed by name of defendant. C.H.

INQUISITION JUDGMENT RECORDS, 1886--. Record of proceedings in land condemna​tion cases. Indexed by names of plaintiff and defendant. C.H.

FLATS, c.1900--. Earlier plats in Land Records. C.H.
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INDEX TO PLATS, c.1900--. C.H.

FLAT BOOKS STATE ROADS COMMISSION, 1933--. C.H.

FLATS AND CERTIFICATES OF SURVEY, 1789-1901. Filed as exhibits in court cases. Typewritten list available. H.R.

MINUTES (ROUGH MINUTES), 1725, 1733, 1748, 1752, 1754-55, 1762, 1766-67, 1774-75,

1834-37,
1839-41, 1844-45, 1854-55, 1867. See also Court Proceedings and Judgments. H.R.

1725-55,
1766, 1774-75, microfilm copied from original records in the Evergreen House

Foundation; 1762, 1767, 1834-1867, original.

COURT PROCEEDINGS (JUDGMENTS), 1703-23, 1734-74, 1783-89, 1791-92, 1807, 1810-1845, 1851-64, 1871-75, 1886--. Volumes predating 1703 were destroyed in the State House fire of 1704. A few volumes indexed. H.R. has card index to Liber for 1703-05 and for Liber mistitled, “Ejectments”, 1807. C.H. 1904--. H.R. 1703-1903.

2~OCKETS, 1775-78, 1803, 1809--. Most volumes indexed by name of defendant. C.H. 1911--. H.R. 1775-1910.

JUDGMENT INDEX (CURRENT JUDGMENT INDEX), 1842-1936. Indexed by name of defendant within court term. C.H.

INDEX TO JUDGMENTS AND MECHANICS LIENS, 1924--. Cottco Universal. Indexed by name of defendant. C.H.

CRIMINAL DOCKET, 1934--. Record prior to 1934 is in Dockets. Each volume indexed by name of defendant. C.H.

INDEX TO CRIMINAL CASES, 1894--. Brief record of criminal cases. Indexed by name of defendant. C.H.

REFERENCE DOCKET, 1898-1904. Brief record of cases referred to arbitrators by order of court or by agreement of counsel. Indexed by name of defendant. H.R.

MISCELLANEOUS DOCKET PETITIONS, ETC., 1890--. Record of proceedings in miscel​laneous court cases, including registration of appeals, habeas corpus, mandamus and lunacy cases, commitments of habitual drunkards and insane paupers, adoptions, elections and remonstrances. Each volume indexed. C.H.

SUPERSEDEAS, 1813-15, 1820-21. H.R.

EQUITY RECORD, 1852--. The presence of the State Court of Chancery, which was con​veniently located in Annapolis, meant that few, if any, equity cases were brought into the Circuit Court of Anne Arundel County until after the State Court was abolished in 1851. C.H. 1852--. H.R. 1852--, microfilm.

CHANCERY RECORD DIVORCE DECREES, 1908--. 1852-1908 in Equity Record. Each volume indexed by name of husband and wife. C.H.

EQUITY DOCKET, 1852--. Each volume indexed, 1874--. C.H.

DIVORCE DOCKET (EQUITY DOCKET DIVORCES), 1913--. 1852-19 12 in Equity Docket. Each volume indexed by name of husband and wife. C.H.

INDEX TO EQUITY DOCKETS, 1852--. Cottco Universal. Indexed by names of plaintiff and defendant. C.H.
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EQUITY DOCKET OF CASES RECEIVED FROM HIGH COURT OF CHANCERY, 1854-

1866. Record of proceedin\gs in equity cases removed to Anne Arundel County Court for completion after the High Court of Chancery was abolished in 1851. Indexed. C.H.

TRUSTEES BONDS, 1891--. Record of bonds entered into by trustees in equity cases. Each volume indexed by name of trustee. C.H.

TRUST DOCKET, 1936--. Brief record of equity cases in which trustees have been appointed. Indexed by name of estate. C.H.

INSOLVENT DEBTORS, 1788-1804. Petitions of debtors for relief under the insolvency laws of the State. H.R. has card index. H.R.

INSOLVENT RECORD, 1881-96. C.H.

INSOLVENT DOCKET, 1881-1933. Indexed by name of insolvent. C.H.

NATURALIZATION RECORD OF DECLARATION, 1899-1903. Each volume indexed. C.H.

NATURALIZATION RECORD, 1904--. Each volume indexed. C.H.

MILITARY PETITIONS, 1918--. Record of naturalization proceedings of alien soldiers quar​tered at Camp Meade. C.H.

RECORD OF INCORPORATIONS, 1868--. Each volume indexed. C.H.

RECORD OF INCORPORATION OF CHURCHES, 1888-90. For earlier and later church incorporations see Land Records and Record of Incorporations. Indexed. C.H.

MARRIAGE LICENSES, 1777-1886. H.R. has card index to name of male and female. H.IR. original and microfilm.

RECORD OF MARRIAGES, 1865-86. Arranged alphabetically by name of male. H.R.

RECORD OF MARRIAGE LICENSES, 1886--. Each volume indexed by name of male and female. C.H. 1904--. H.R. 1886-1904.

RECORD OF BIRTHS, 1865-1877. Arranged alphabetically. H.R.

RECORD OF DEATHS, 1865-1880. Arranged alphabetically. H.R.

RECORD OF ELECTION RETURNS, 1897--. C.H.

COMMISSIONS (JUSTICES APPOINTMENTS), 1837--. Record of commissions issued to county officials and to certain State officials residing in county. C.H. 1884--. H.R. 1837-1883.

TEST BOOKS, 1851--. Earlier record in Land Records. C.H. 1869--. H.R. 1851-68.

BONDS OF OFFICERS, 1841--. Record of bonds executed by county officials in qualifying for office. Each volume indexed. C.H. 1872--. H.R. 1841-1871.

QUALIFICATION OF MAGISTRATES, 1815-1844. Record of certifications by justices of the peace that newly-appointed justices of the peace have taken the several oaths required by law to qualify them for office. H.R.

1VEANUMISSIONS (DEEDS), 1797-1866. Earlier record in Land Records. Liber A. No. 1 also contains Certificates of Freedom, 1806-07. Volumes for 1807-16, 1844-66 indexed by name of owner. H.R. has card index. HR.

CERTIFICATES OF FREEDOM, 1810-64. 1806-07 in lVtanumissions. H.R. has card index. H.R.
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SLAVE STATISTICS, 1867. Entries are alphabetical by name of owner within each district. H.R. has card index. H.R.

RECORD OF CONVICTS, 1771-1775. Transcripts of the records of convicted felons im​ported into Maryland as servants recorded under the provisions of Chapter 22, Acts 1769. Index covers only 15 of 89 pages. H.R. has card index. H.R.

REUBEN MERIWEATHER’S BOOK CONTAINING THE OATH OF FIDELITY AND SUPPORT TO THE STATE OF MARYLAND, 1778. Signatures of free male persons above eighteen years of age who subscribed to the Oath of Fidelity before Reuben Men​weather, Justice of the Peace, under the requirements of Chapter 20, Acts of October 1777. H.R. has card index. H.R.

CORONER’S INQUESTS, 1787-1790. Record of inquisitions held by Burton Whetcroft, Coroner. H.R.

BILLS OF SALE [CHATTEL RECORDS], 1829--. Earlier record in Land Records. Record of instruments pertaining to personal property including bills of sale, chattel mortgages, releases and agreements. Also includes federal crop liens since 1933. C.H. 1863--. H.R.

1829-1862.

INDEX TO CHATTEL MORTGAGES, BILLS OF SALE, CROP LIENS (INDEX TO PER​SONAL PROPERTY), 1829--. Liber index, 1829-1937. Cott Universal, 1937--. C.H.

1829--.
H.R. 1829-67.

ORIGINAL PAPERS, 1815--. Include Law Papers, 1815--; Equity Papers, 1852--. C.H.

Orphans’ Court

ORPHANS COURT PROCEEDINGS, 1777-79, 1788--. 1782-84 in Orders and Petitions. C.H.

1849--.
H.R. 1777-1849; 1777-1961, microfilm.

ORPHANS COURT DOCKET, 1791-1820, 1823--. Most volumes indexed. C.H. 1846--. H.R.

1791-1845.

ADMINISTRATION DOCKET, 1787--. Each volume indexed. C.H. 1820--. H.R. 1787-1820.

WILLS, 1777--. Card index at H.R. 1777-1820. C.H. 1847--. H.R. 1777-1847; 1777-1961, microfilm.

INDEX TO WILLS, 1777--. Liber index, 1777-1960. Cottco Universal, 1926--. C.H. 1777--. H.R. 1777-1960, microfilm.

iNDEX TO WILLS, 1777-1948. Liber index. Letters A-M, 1777-1948; N-Z, 1820-1948. H.R. TEST BOOK, 1884--. Record of oaths taken by executors, administrators, guardians and

trustees. Each volume indexed. C.H.

CERTIFICATES TO FREE NEGROES, 1805-1864. 1807-1820 in Orders and Petitions. H.R.

INDENTURES, 1796-1919. 1817, 1820-21 in Orders and Petitions. Liber for 1796-1818 also includes Receipts and Releases, 1796-1826. Indexed by name of apprentice. H.R.

EQUITY DOCKET, 1866, 1885. C.H.

LAND RECORDS [EQUITY RECORDS], 1866--. Each volume indexed. C.H. 1866--. H.R. 1866-1938, microfilm.

VOUCHER DOCKET [CLAIM DOCKET], 1860--. Each volume indexed. C.H.
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RECEIPTS AND RELEASES, 1826--. 1796-1826 in Indentures. Each volume indexed. C.H.

1842--.
H.R. 1826-42.

INDEX TO GUARDIAN ACCOUNTS, 1791-1893. Liber index. Indexed by name of ward. H.R. Original and microfilm.

GUARDIAN ACCOUNTS, 1791--. Most volumes indexed by name of ward. C.H. 1840--. H.R. 1791-1840; 1791-1853, microfilm.

GUARDIAN DOCKET (LIST OF GUARDIANS), 1791-1890. 1891-- in Guardian Bonds. Some volumes indexed by name of ward. C.H.

GUARDIAN BONDS, 1820--. 1780-1820 in Administration Bonds. Also includes Guardian Docket, 1891--. Each volume indexed by ward. C.H. 1842--. H.R. 1820-1841; 1820-1856, microfilm.

DISTRIBUTIONS, 1788-98, 1803-87. 1888-- in Accounts. Each volume indexed. C.H. 1839-87.

H.R. 1788-1838.

INDEX TO ACCOUNTS, 1797-1893. Liber index. H.R. Original and microfilm.

ACCOUNTS (ACCOUNTS AND DISTRIBUTIONS), 1777--. Also includes Distributions, 1777-79, 1888--. Most volumes indexed. Card index at H.R. 1777-1821. C.H. 1850--. H.R.

1777-1849; 1777-1961, microfilm.

ORDERS AND PETITIONS (RELEASES AND PETITIONS), 1809--. Liber for 1809-13 also includes Orphans Court Proceedings, 1782-84, 1805-07; Certificates of Freedom, 1807-20; Orphans Court Cases, 1794, 1817; Orders of Sales, 1853-55. Libers for 1814-40 also include Indentures, 1817, 1820-21. Some volumes indexed. C.H. 1841--. H.R. 1809-40.

ORDERS OF SALES, 1821-82, 1890--. 1853-55 in Orders and Petitions. Each volume indexed. C.H. 1829--. H.R. 1821-28.

ACCOUNTS OF SALES, 1888--. 1777-1888 in Inventories. Each volume indexed. C.H. INVENTORY OF DEBTS, 1890--. 1777-1889 in Inventories. Each volume indexed. C.H.

INDEX TO INVENTORIES (INDEX TO ACCOUNTS OF SALES), 1777-1893. Liber in​dex. H.R. Original and microfilm.

INVENTORIES (LIST OF DEBTS, ACCOUNT OF SALES), 1777--. List of Debts estab​lished as separate series in 1890 and Account of Sales in 1888. Most volumes indexed. Card index at H.R. 1777-1821. C.H. 1849--. H.R. 1777-1848; 1777-1962, microfilm.

ADMINISTRATION BONDS (GUARDIAN BONDS), 1780--. Administration and guardian bonds recorded in same volumes until 1820 when a separate series was established for each record. C.H. 1851--. H.R. 1780-1851; 1780-1851, microfilm.

GENERAL INDEX, 1777-1820. Liber index to several series, as follows: Wills, 1777-1820;

Administration and Guardian Bonds, 1787-1820; Inventories and Accounts of Sales, 1787-

1820; Accounts, 1780-1820. Each series is indexed by name of decedent and the Accounts

are also indexed by name of executor or administrator. An abortive index to Guardian

Accounts (only letter A was completed) gives names of both minor and guardian. H.R.

INDEX TO WILLS, 1777-1893. Liber index. H.R. original and microfilm. ORIGINAL PAPERS, 1777--. Comprised of following items:

Wills. C.H. 1850--. H.R. 1777-1849 with card index for 1777-1820.
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Testamentary Papers (includes all other probate papers). C.H. 1849--. H.R. 1778-1848 with card index for 1778-1820.

Invalid’s Pay Receipts. Receipts of disabled soldiers and sailors for payments al]oweé them under Chapter 14, Acts of October 1778. H.R. 1784-87.

Certificates of Discharge. Discharge papers filed in support of claims for Invalid’s Pay.

H.R. 1777-88.

County Commissioners

PROCEEDINGS OF THE LEVY COURT, 1820-28. H.R.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE COUNTY COMMISSIONERS (MINUTES), 1857-66, 1878-83, 1887-1902, 1904--. C.H. 1878--. H.R. 1857-66.

LEVY BOOKS, 1811-37, 1845-63. H.R.

ASSESSMENT BOOKS, 1876--. Arranged alphabetically within each district. C.H.

ASSESSMENT [FIELD BOOKS]. 1878-1911. Arranged alphabetically within each district. C.H.

TAX LISTS, 1827-31, 1841-49. Also includes Levy Lists, 1826, 1842-45. These records were presented to the Hall of Records by the Reverend Charles N. Baldwin in 1937. H.R.

INSOLVENTS (RECORDS), 1887-97. Record of insolvencies allowed by the County Commis​sioners. Also contains Appointments, 1887-97. C.H.

TAX SALE RECORDS, 1889--. Record of property of delinquent taxpayers sold at auction. Indexed. C.H.

APPOINTMENT BOOK, 1897-1914. 1887-97 in Insolvents. Record of all appointments made by the County Commissioners. C.H.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE COMMISSIONERS OF THE TAX, 1793-97. H.R. 1793-97, micro​film copied from original record in the Evergreen House Foundation.

RECORD [ROADS], 1912-26. Proceedings of the County Commissioners acting as a road board. C.H.

PUBLIC ROADS, 1898-99. Record of all public roads in the County. C.H.

LIST OF ROADS IN ANNE ARUNDEL COUNTY, 1807-08. See Tobacco Inspection Rec​ord, 1802-03. H.R.

PROCEEDINGS OF THE SCHOOL COMMISSIONERS, 1865-88. H.R.

TOBACCO INSPECTION RECORD, 1802-03. Also contains List of Roads in Anne Arundel County, 1807-08. H.R.
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